S257658 SUPREME COURT NO.

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,	)
Plaintiff and Respondent,	) Court of Appeal No. F076836
V.	) Super. Ct. No. BF163811A
JOSE GUADALUPE TIRADO,	)
Defendant and Appellant.	)
	)

APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW OF THE PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL FOR THE FIFTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, IN CASE NUMBER F076836, AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF KERN COUNTY

> John L. Staley Attorney at Law CBN 129624 16935 West Bernardo Dr.. Suite 260 San Diego, CA 92127

(858) 613-1047; JohnLStaley@aol.com

Attorney for Appellant by Appointment of the Court of Appeal under the CCAP independent case system

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. WHETHER PENAL CODE SECTIONS 1385 AND 12022.53, SUBDIVISION

(H), AND THE FEDERAL AND STATE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES, REQUIRE REVERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE FIREARM ENHANCEMENT BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT WAS

# UNAWARE OF ITS DISCRETION TO DISMISS A PORTION OF THE TRUE FINDING TO THE FIREARM ENHANCEMENT AND IMPOSE A MORE JUST SENTENCE? NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

This case presents an issue in which the published appellate court opinions are in conflict within the meaning of California Rule of Court 8.500, subdivision (b)(1).

A jury found appellant guilty of first degree robbery, driving a vehicle under the influence of alcohol, and assault with a semi-automatic firearm. A Penal Code<sup>1</sup> section 12022.53, subdivision (d), firearm enhancement was found true for the robbery and assault counts. Section 12022.53 imposes escalating punishment for the use of a firearm in the commission of specified felonies. Section 12022.53, subdivision (b), imposes a consecutive sentence of 10 years for the use of a firearm. Section 12022.53, subdivision (c), imposes a consecutive sentence of 20 years for the personal and intentional discharge of a firearm. Section 12022.53, subdivision (d), imposes a consecutive sentence of 25 years to life for the discharge of a firearm which causes death or great bodily injury to another person. Effective January 1, 2018, the Legislature added subdivision (h), to the statute to give the trial court the discretion to strike the punishment imposed by section 12022.53. (Stats. 2017, ch. 682, §2 (SB620).)

Appellant and his companion went into a convenience store to steal beer. Appellant shot a customer who got in the way. Appellant was sentenced to 25 years to life in state

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> All future statutory references are to the Penal Code unless otherwise stated.

prison for the firearm enhancement plus a determinate term for the substantive counts. The defense counsel requested the trial court to strike the sentence for the firearm enhancement pursuant to section 1385, subdivision (a), and 12022.53, subdivision (h). (5RT 631-635; 2CT 351-355.) The tenor of the discussion between the attorneys and the trial court suggested the trial court never considered imposing lesser punishment under section 12022.52, subdivisions (b) and (c). (5RT 631-636.)

Appellant argued in the Court of Appeal that the case should be remanded to the trial court to exercise its discretion to determine whether the punishment under subdivision (d), should be stricken and a lesser punishment imposed under either subdivisions (b) or (c). The Court of Appeal rejected this argument. It concluded the trial court was required to either impose the 25 years to life specified in subdivision (d), or strike the punishment in its entirety. (Appendix A at pp. 4-9.) The Court of Appeal expressly disagreed with the holding of *People v. Morrison* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 217, which reached the opposite conclusion. (Appendix A at p. 9.)

The published appellate court opinions are squarely in conflict regarding the authority of the trial court to strike the punishment specified under section 12022.53, subdivision (d), and impose lesser punishment under that statute. This Court should grant review and resolve the conflict.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 12, 2019, the Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment of the Superior Court

in a published opinion. (Appendix A.) Appellant incorporates the statement of facts as set

forth in the opinion of the Court of Appeal. (Appendix A at pp. 2-4.)

#### I

**REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED TO DETERMINE** WHETHER PENAL CODE SECTIONS 1385 AND 12022.53, SUBDIVISION (H), AND THE FEDERAL AND STATE DUE PROCESS CLAUSES, REQUIRE **REVERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE** FIREARM ENHANCEMENT BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT WAS UNAWARE OF ITS DISCRETION TO **DISMISS A PORTION OF THE TRUE FINDING TO THE** FIREARM ENHANCEMENT AND IMPOSE A MORE JUST SENTENCE

Appellant submitted a sentencing memorandum requesting the trial court to dismiss the firearm enhancement. (2CT 351-355.) It argued the firearm enhancement should be stricken because: (1) appellant was youthful–22 years old–when the offense was committed; (2) appellant's criminal record was minor; (3) appellant had been employed and was a productive member of society; (4) people who knew appellant had a good opinion of him; (5) the shooting was spontaneous and induced by the influence of alcohol; (6) a sentence of around 10 years could still be imposed if the firearm enhancement was dismissed. ((2CT 353-355.) Attached to the sentencing memorandum were reports prepared by the defense investigator of interviews of people who knew appellant. (2CT 357-363.) Appellant had been steadily employed as a cook and then a welder. (2CT 357, 359, 361-362.) Appellant's brother and friends knew him as a kind and decent person. (2CT 359-363.) The prosecution did not file a written opposition.

The prosecutor orally opposed the motion to dismiss the firearm enhancement. (5RT 631-633.) He noted Phillips was still in pain two years after the incident. (5RT 632.) The trial court concluded the motion to strike the firearm enhancement should be denied. (5RT 633.) The trial court commented that appellant; (1) had been regularly employed; (2) brought a firearm to the convenience store which suggested a willingness to use it; (3) had a minor criminal record; (4) tried to assist Aldaco by initially wrestling with Phillips but was not successful because of the size disparity, and then escalated the situation by shooting Phillips, The trial court also noted that serious punishment was warranted for the shooting. (5RT 633-635.) The trial court agreed "with defense counsel's position that Mr. Tirado, when we look at defendants, doesn't have the markers historically that we would expect to see- that I would expect to see considering the gravity of this offense. Obviously, alcohol use has some perhaps loosening of his higher conscience, thoughts, and taking activity, but it doesn't excuse him." (5RT 635.) The trial court then sentenced appellant to three years for the robbery conviction and 25 years to life for the firearm enhancement. (5RT 636.)

Section 1385, subdivision (a), grants the trial court the authority to dismiss an entire finding or a part thereof. (E.g., *People v. Rivadeneira* (1985) 176 Cal.App.3d 132, 136 [the authority to dismiss the whole includes the authority to dismiss or strike out a part]; *People v. Burke* (1956) 47 Cal.2d 45, 50-51.) The underlying purpose of striking convictions or allegations under section 1385 is the avoidance of unjust sentences. (*People v. Garcia* (1999)

20 Cal.4th 490, 500.) A defendant is "entitled to a genuine exercise of sentencing discretion by the trial court . . . ." (*In re Large* (2007) 41 Cal. 4th 538, 550.) The trial court "must consider whether, in light of the nature and circumstances of his present felonies and prior serious and/or violent felony convictions, and the particulars of his background, character, and prospects, the defendant may be deemed outside the scheme's spirit, in whole or in part, and hence should be treated as though he had not previously been convicted of one or more serious and/or violent felonies." (*People v. Williams* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 148, 161.)

Senate Bill 620 became effective January 1, 2018. It amended section 12022.53, subdivision (h), by providing, "the court may, in the interest of justice pursuant to Section 1385 and at the time of sentencing, strike or dismiss an enhancement otherwise required to be imposed by this section." Section 12022.53, subdivision (h), applies retroactively to all cases not yet final in which a firearm enhancement was imposed at sentencing. (*People v. Chavez* (2018) 21 Cal.App.5th 971, 1020.)

Under section 1385, subdivision (a), the trial court had the discretion to: (1) refuse to strike any portion of the true finding to the firearm enhancement; (2) strike the great bodily injury finding and thus reduce the punishment to 20 years pursuant to subdivision (c); (3) strike the great bodily injury and personal use findings and thus reduce the punishment to 10 years pursuant to subdivision (b); or (4) dismiss the entire the firearm enhancement completely. It was clear the parties litigated the motion as if the only options were either imposing a sentence of 25 years to life or striking the punishment altogether. A remand to

the trial court for a new sentencing hearing is required when the trial court sentenced a defendant without being aware of its sentencing discretion. (*People v. Woodworth* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th, 1473, 1480.)

The trial court noted significant factors in mitigation such as appellant's minor criminal history and history of employment, (5RT 633.) The trial court clearly wrestled with the section 1385 motion because it believed the significant injuries suffered by the victim warranted substantial punishment, but the punishment resulting from the firearm enhancement was severe. Neither the attorneys nor the trial court suggested or discussed the option of imposing a term for the firearm enhancement that was less than 25 years to life, but not a full dismissal of that enhancement.

The defendant in *People v. Morrison, supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th 217, was convicted of first degree murder. The prosecutor had alleged the subdivisions (b) and (c), enhancements in the information, but amended the information to omit those allegations leaving only the subdivision (d), allegation. A sentence of 25 years to life was added to the sentence for the murder conviction pursuant to section 12022.53, subdivision (d). The defendant argued on appeal the trial court had the discretion to impose punishment under either subdivisions (b), or (c).

*People v. Morrison* noted, "[c]ase law has recognized that the court may impose a lesser included enhancement that was not charged in the information when a greater enhancement found true by the trier of fact is either legally inapplicable or unsupported by

sufficient evidence." (*People v. Morrison, supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 222.) The Court then concluded, '[u]nder these cases, the court could impose an uncharged enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (b) or (c) in lieu of an enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (d) if it was unsupported by substantial evidence or was defective or legally inapplicable in some other respect. We see no reason a court could not also impose one of these enhancements after striking an enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (d), under section 1385." (*Id.* at pp. 222-223.) Hence, "[t]he court had the discretion to impose an enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (b) or (c) as a middle ground to a lifetime enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivision (d), if such an outcome was found to be in the interests of justice under section 1385." (*Id.* at p. 223.)

The Court of Appeal rejected appellant's argument that the trial court had the discretion to strike the punishment imposed under subdivision (d), and impose lesser punishment under subdivisions (b), or (c). The Court believed the text of section 1385, subdivision (a), permitted the striking of the entire enhancement, but not a lesser remedy. (Appendix A.) The Court ignored well established precedent that section 1385, subdivision (a), grants the trial court the authority to dismiss an entire finding or a part thereof. *(People v. Rivadeneira, supra,* 176 Cal.App.3d at p. 136.) The Court of Appeal also believed imposition of a lesser punishment interfered with the charging authority of the District Attorney's Office. (Appendix A at pp. 7-8.) Finally, the Court stated, "[w]e are aware our opinion reaches a holding contrary to that of *People v. Morrison* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 217.

We do not find the reasoning in *Morrison* persuasive and respectfully disagree with it." (Appendix A at p. 9.) The conflict between the published cases is clear. This Court should grant review.

Dated: August 27, 2019 /S/ John L. Staley

## **DECLARATION REGARDING WORD COUNT**

I declare under penalty of perjury that this petition contains 2,177 words. Executed on August 27, 2019, in San Diego, California.

/S/ John L. Staley