In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

JOSE GUADALUPE TIRADO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S257658

Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, Case No. F076836
Kern County Superior Court, Case No. BF163811A
The Honorable John Oglesby, Judge

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
LANCE E. WINTERS
Chief Assistant Attorney General
MICHAEL P. FARRELL
Senior Assistant Attorney General
ERIC L. CHRISTOFFERSEN
Supervising Deputy Attorney General
RACHELLE A. NEWCOMB
Deputy Attorney General
DINA PETRUSHENKO
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 271597

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether Penal Code section 1385 authorizes a trial court to strike or dismiss individual pled and proven facts of an enhancement for the purpose of imposing sentence on a “lesser included” but uncharged enhancement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was charged, in pertinent part, with robbery (Pen. Code,¹ § 211) and personal and intentional discharge of a firearm causing great bodily injury (§ 12022.53, subd. (d)). A jury found him guilty of robbery and found the firearm enhancement true.

Appellant was sentenced on January 8, 2018, after the effective date of Senate Bill No. 620 (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.) (SB 620), which bestowed trial courts with newfound discretion to dismiss section 12022.53 enhancements pursuant to section 1385. The trial court denied his request to exercise its new discretion to strike the section 12022.53, subdivision (d) (section 12022.53(d)), enhancement because the facts of the case did not justify such an exercise of discretion. The trial court imposed three years in prison for robbery and a consecutive 25 years to life for the section 12022.53(d) enhancement.

Appellant timely appealed the judgment and claimed that the trial court had been unaware of its discretion to strike the section 12022.53(d) enhancement and to impose a lesser term under section 12022.53, subdivisions (b) or (c). While the appeal was pending, the First District Court of Appeal published its opinion in *People v. Morrison* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 217, 222-223 (*Morrison*), holding that a trial court may use its power under section 1385 to strike a section 12022.53(d) enhancement and

¹ All further section references shall be to the Penal Code.

impose an uncharged enhancement under section 12022.53, subdivisions (b) or (c).

Thereafter, the Fifth District Court of Appeal affirmed appellant's conviction in a published opinion, holding that sections 1385 and 12022.53 do not authorize a trial court to impose an uncharged subdivision (b) or (c) enhancement when only the 12022.53(d) enhancement has been pled and proven. (*People v. Tirado* (2019) 38 Cal.App.5th 637, 643 (*Tirado*)). The Fifth District acknowledged the holding in *Morrison* and expressly disagreed with it. (*Id.* at p. 644.)

Appellant filed a petition for review raising the same issue as in the Court of Appeal. This Court asked respondent to file an answer.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

I. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE A CONFLICT IN THE COURTS OF APPEAL

Newly amended section 12022.53, subdivision (h), authorizes a trial court to “strike or dismiss an enhancement otherwise required to be imposed by this section” “in the interest of justice pursuant to Section 1385.” The question presented here is whether section 1385 authorizes a trial court to strike the facts required to prove a section 12022.53(d) enhancement, rather than the enhancement in its entirety, and then to impose sentence on an uncharged enhancement. The First and Fifth Districts of the Court of Appeal have come to different conclusions on this issue. This Court should grant review because it is “necessary to secure uniformity of decision” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1)) and resolve this conflict between the Courts of Appeal.

A. An Amendment to Section 12022.53 Gave Trial Courts Discretion to Strike or Dismiss Enhancements

Section 12022.53 provides tiered enhancements for use of a firearm based on the severity of one's conduct. Subdivision (b) provides for a 10-

year sentence enhancement where one personally uses a firearm. (§ 12022.53, subd. (b).) Subdivision (c) provides for a 20-year sentence enhancement where one personally and intentionally discharges a firearm. (§ 12022.53, subd. (c).) Subdivision (d) provides for a 25-years-to-life sentence enhancement where one personally and intentionally discharges a firearm and causes great bodily injury or death. (§ 12022.53, subd. (d).) Former section 12022.53, subdivision (h) stated: “Notwithstanding Section 1385 . . . the court shall not strike an allegation under this section” (Stats. 2010, ch. 711, § 5.)

Effective January 1, 2018, SB 620 amended section 12022.53, subdivision (h), in relevant part to read: “The court may, in the interest of justice pursuant to Section 1385 and at the time of sentencing, strike or dismiss an enhancement otherwise required to be imposed by this section.” Section 1385, subdivision (a), also provides that the trial court may “in the furtherance of justice, order an action to be dismissed.”

B. Courts Have Disagreed on Whether Section 1385 Authorizes a Trial Court to Modify an Enhancement to a “Lesser Included” Enhancement That Is Not Expressly Pled and Proven

Both the First and Fifth Districts of the Court of Appeal have addressed the scope of a trial court’s power under section 1385 in relation to a section 12022.53(d) enhancement. Their conclusions are in conflict.

1. *People v. Morrison*

The First District held that, when only section 12022.53(d) is pled and proven, a trial court has discretion under section 1385 to strike the enhancement and replace it with a “lesser included” but uncharged enhancement. (*Morrison, supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at pp. 222-223.) In *Morrison*, the prosecution charged the defendant with first degree murder with an enhancement for causing death with a firearm under section

12022.53(d). (*Id.* at p. 220.) The prosecution did not allege a firearm enhancement under subdivision (c) [20-year term for intentional discharge of a firearm] or subdivision (b) [10-year term for personal use of a firearm]. (*Id.* at pp. 220-221.) A jury found the defendant guilty as charged and found the alleged section 12022.53(d) enhancement true. (*Id.* at p. 220.) When the defendant was sentenced, the Penal Code did not provide trial courts discretion to strike enhancements under section 12022.53. (*Id.* at p. 221.) About one month later, the governor signed SB 620, which gave trial courts the discretion, under section 1385, to strike or dismiss an enhancement imposed under section 12022.53. (*Id.* at pp. 221-222.) The trial court recalled the sentence pursuant to section 1170, subdivision (d)(1), and declined to strike the firearm enhancement. (*Id.* at p. 220.)

The defendant argued on appeal that the case should be remanded for resentencing because the trial court had misunderstood its discretion under section 1385 to modify the section 12022.53(d) enhancement by imposing a lesser sentence under section 12022.53, subdivision (b) or (c). (*Morrison, supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 221.) The *Morrison* court agreed, noting that a trial court can impose an uncharged enhancement in lieu of a section 12022.53(d) enhancement if the 12022.53(d) enhancement is unsupported by substantial evidence or is legally inapplicable. (*Id.* at p. 222.) *Morrison* held that it could “see no reason” why, when only section 12022.53(d) is pled and proven, a trial court could not strike the enhancement under section 1385 and replace it with a lesser uncharged enhancement. (*Id.* at pp. 222-223.)

2. *People v. Tirado*

Here, on the same facts, the Fifth District expressly disagreed with the First District’s opinion in *Morrison*. (*Tirado, supra*, 38 Cal.App.5th at p. 644.) Appellant’s robbery charge was enhanced by section 12022.53(d). (*Id.* at p. 640.) No other firearm enhancements were alleged in relation to

the robbery charge. (*Ibid.*) A jury found appellant guilty of robbery and found the section 12022.53(d) enhancement true. (*Id.* at p. 641.) Sentenced after SB 620 took effect, appellant invited the trial court to strike the section 12022.53(d) enhancement. (*Ibid.*) The trial court found that the egregiousness of appellant’s conduct did not warrant such an exercise of discretion. (*Ibid.*)

On appeal, appellant claimed the trial court had not understood that sections 1385 and 12022.53 authorized it to substitute the section 12022.53(d) enhancement with an enhancement under subdivision (b) or (c). (*Tirado, supra*, 38 Cal.App.5th at p. 641.) The Fifth District explained that the “plain language” of sections 1385 and 12022.53, subdivision (h), informed the scope of the trial court’s power under these sections. (*Id.* at p. 643) Specifically, section 12022.53, subdivision (h), authorizes the trial court to “strike” and “dismiss” and, section 1385 authorizes the trial court to “order an action to be dismissed.” (*Ibid.*) Thus, a trial “court’s power pursuant to these sections is binary: the court can choose to dismiss a charge or enhancement in the interest of justice, or it can choose to take no action. There is nothing in either statute that conveys the power to change, modify, or substitute a charge or enhancement.” (*Ibid.*) The Fifth District further noted that there is no “authority interpreting section 1385 to include the power to modify, change, or substitute a charge or enhancement.” (*Ibid.*) The Fifth District concluded that “[h]ad the Legislature intended the trial court’s power to be broader than what is proscribed by section 1385, it would have said so.” (*Ibid.*)

As demonstrated, the published opinions in *Morrison* and *Tirado* are in conflict. Accordingly, this Court should grant the petition for review to “secure uniformity of decision.” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

II. WHETHER SECTION 1385 AUTHORIZES A TRIAL COURT TO STRIKE INDIVIDUAL PLED AND PROVEN FACTS OF AN ENHANCEMENT FOR THE PURPOSE OF IMPOSING SENTENCE ON A “LESSER INCLUDED” BUT UNCHARGED ENHANCEMENT IS AN IMPORTANT QUESTION OF LAW THAT SHOULD BE SETTLED BY THIS COURT

This Court should also grant review to “settle an important question of law.” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).) Though *Morrison* and *Tirado* addressed the discretion of the trial court to strike a certain gun enhancement, the decisions implicate a broader question. The core conflict between the courts is whether section 1385 grants trial courts the discretion to strike the facts required to prove an element of an enhancement and then to impose punishment on an uncharged enhancement.

The *Morrison* court presumed that, since a trial court can reduce or modify an enhancement that it is unsupported by substantial evidence or is legally inapplicable, then the trial court can also reduce or modify an enhancement under its statutorily granted discretion bestowed by section 1385. In other words, *Morrison* presumed, without analysis, that a trial court’s discretion under section 1385 includes the power to strike an individual fact proven for imposition of punishment on an enhancement and to impose a “lesser included” uncharged enhancement. By doing so, *Morrison* authorizes the imposition of a “lesser included” enhancement where one is not expressly pled. *Tirado* expressly rejects *Morrison*’s presumption, stating that the legislature has given the court discretion “to dismiss a *charge or enhancement*” or “to take no action. There is nothing . . . that conveys the power to change, modify, or substitute a charge or enhancement.” (*Tirado, supra*, 38 Cal.App.5th at p. 643, italics added.) Indeed, *Tirado* noted that other statutes allow a trial court to take such an action and, had the Legislature intended for section 1385 to

empower a trial court to strike an individual fact alleged in an enhancement, it could have drafted section 1385 to authorize such. (*Ibid.*)

Morrison's holding, and its underlying presumptions, could be applied beyond the facts of the two cases here. *Morrison's* interpretation of section 1385 could be expanded to include discretion to modify substantive offenses. Thus, a trial court could strike a greater offense in lieu of a lesser included offense, such as reducing a first degree burglary to a second degree burglary or a battery causing serious bodily injury to a simple battery. While a trial court's discretionary power under section 1385 is broad, it is not without limitations. Under section 1385, "[t]he only action that may be dismissed . . . is a criminal action or a part thereof." (*People v. Hernandez* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 512, 524.) "Criminal action" (*id.* at p. 521) has consistently been interpreted to mean the "individual charges and allegations" (*id.* at p. 522) in a "proceeding by which a party charged which a public offense is accused and brought to trial and punishment" (*id.* at p. 521). Additionally, section 1385 has not been interpreted to apply to sentencing factors (*In re Varnell* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 1132, 1135); to sanity proceedings or a plea of insanity (*People v. Hernandez* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 512, 522-524); to reduce a verdict of first degree murder to second degree murder (*People v. Superior Court (Prudencio)* (1927) 292 Cal. 165, 173-174, disapproved on other grounds in *People v. Superior Court (Howard)* (1968) 69 Cal.2d 491, 501); to reduce the offense of a conviction to an uncharged lesser-related offense (*People v. Smith* (1975) 53 Cal.App.3d 655, 657-658); or to enter a judgment of acquittal after a jury conviction (*People v. Superior Court (Jonsson)* (1966) 240 Cal.App.2d 90, 92-93, disapproved on other grounds in *People v. Superior Court (Howard)*, *supra*, 69 Cal.2d at p. 501). Therefore, while section 1385 has been interpreted to authorize a trial court to strike an entire charge, allegation, or enhancement, it has not been interpreted to allow a trial court to strike the individual facts

supporting a charge, allegation, or enhancement for the purpose of imposing punishment on a lesser uncharged offense or enhancement. Whether the discretion statutorily authorized by section 1385 is that broad is for this Court to decide in the first instance.

CONCLUSION

Respondent respectfully requests that this Court grant review.